JAMES G. MCKENNA v. ARCO ALASKA, INC.


ALASKA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
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                                                  Employee, 
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DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No. 199028636M
AWCB Decision No. 11-0164
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on November 21, 2011


Arco Alaska and ACE USA’s (Employer), May 23, 2011 petition appealing the discovery ruling made by the board designee in the May 4, 2011 prehearing conference, Employer’s May 9, 2011 petition to compel James McKenna (Employee) to sign releases, and Employee’s April 15 and 22, 2011 petitions for protective orders, were heard on August 17, 2011, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Michael Jensen appeared and represented Employee.  Attorney Michelle Meshke appeared and represented Employer.  Employee appeared but did not testify, and there were no other witnesses.  The parties stipulated to release mental health records related to depression prior to hearing.  The parties have also stipulated to medical releases limited to neck, back, shoulders, chest, and chronic pain.  The record closed after the board met to deliberate on October 19, 2011.


ISSUES

Employer contends the board designee abused his discretion when he failed to order Employee to sign a medical release related to Employee’s neck, head, back, upper and lower extremities, urinary tract problems, and pain of any kind for which narcotic pain medication was prescribed, after November 25, 1963, at the May 4, 2011 prehearing conference.  Employer also contends the designee abused his discretion when he failed to order Employee to sign a mental health and substance abuse records release going back to 1973.  Employer contends part of their defense is based on a diagnosis of Addictive Disease and mental health and substance abuse records are necessary for Employer to build this defense.   

Employee contends the board designee did not abuse his discretion by granting a protective order on the Employer’s medical release because the earliest medical record related to a claimed injured body part is 1984, so Employer is only allowed to gather records dating back to 1982.  Employee contends it has long been board practice to limit a release to the body parts for which an employee has claimed benefits, and to two years before the earliest known medical record related to one of those body parts.  Employee further contends mental health releases are different because they are invasive and potentially harmful.  Also, Employee contends he has not claimed any mental health type of benefit except treatment for depression, and he has agreed to release those records.  Employee finally contends Employer’s reliance on EME physician Olberich’s diagnosis of Addictive Disease is a red herring because there is no evidence Employee has ever had an addiction problem or that it is relevant in this case.  Further, Employee contends an order for Employee to release his mental health records will lead to no real limits on the types of releases employers are able to obtain in workers’ compensation cases.

1.   Did the board designee abuse his discretion when he granted a protective order to Employee on a medical release back to November 25, 1963, at the May 4, 2011 prehearing conference?

2.   Should Employee be compelled to sign a release for mental health and substance abuse release for records back to 1973?

Employee contends he is entitled to attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $13,679.91 for work performed by his attorney in obtaining protective orders and representation at prehearings and this hearing.  Employer contends Employee’s attorney’s fees and costs should be narrowly focused on the issues before the board at the August 17, 2011 hearing and limited by the fact Employee only prevailed on two out of ten issues at the May 4, 2011 prehearing.

3.  Is Employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?  If so, in what amount?

FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the administrative record establishes the following relevant facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. Employee was injured in the course and scope of his employment on February 16, 1988, when he slipped and fell on a valve injuring his back.  (Atlantic Richfield Company Injury and Illness Investigation Report, 2/16/1988.  No Report of Injury form was located in the 1988 board file).

2. Employee again injured his back on October 28, 1990, when a choke valve was plugged with ice and Employee felt a pop in his back while turning the valve with a wrench.  (Atlantic Richfield Company Injury and Illness Investigation Report, 10/28/1990.  No Report of Injury form was located in the 1990 board file).

3. Employee treated with chiropractor William West, DC, on January 24, 1984, for bilateral shoulders, right arm, neck, leg numbness, and low back issues.  Dr. West noted the etiology of Employee’s symptoms was “possible old injury when young” with an onset of symptoms five months ago.  (Dr. West, chart note, 1/24/1984).

4. Employee continued treating with Dr. West through August of 1985 for right shoulder and neck pain.  (Dr. West, ongoing chart note from 1/24/1984 to 8/22/1985).

5. On February 17, 1988, Employee was evaluated by Cynthia Mildbrand, MD, in the emergency room of Central Peninsula Hospital after injuring himself at work.  Dr. Mildbrand assessed a left rhomboid muscle strain and left rib contusion.  (Dr. Mildbrand, ER note, 2/17/1988).

6. On February 22, 1988 imaging was performed of Employee’s thoracic spine, left shoulder, and cervical spine.  The thoracic spine showed “very minimal” scoliosis with some old disc space calcifications in the upper thoracic.  The left shoulder and cervical spine were normal.  (William Chervenak, MD, x-ray report, 2/22/1988).

7. Employee treated with Dr. West for his February 1988 work injury.  Employee started chiropractic treatment with Dr. West beginning in March 1988.  (Dr. West, ongoing chart notes beginning 4/1988).

8.  On January 26, 1989, Employee was evaluated by Michael James, MD, who noted Employee continued to have pain in his chest wall, and chiropractic treatment had not improved Employee’s pain.  Dr. James noted Employee’s preexisting neck pain and low back pain were somewhat exacerbated by the work injury.  Dr. James noted Employee’s past medical history included past medical treatment by chiropractors for neck and low back pain as a kind of maintenance procedure and without any clear injuries.  Dr. James’ impressions were left T7 radiculopathy demonstrated by EMG
 testing, left meralgia paresthtica (lateral cutaneous nerve entrapment) with paresthesias of the left anterolateral thigh, and headaches and neck pain secondary to muscle spasms associated with T7 root compromise.  Dr. James noted Employee had no time loss associated with this injury.  (Dr. James, chart note, 1/26/1989).

9. A February 6, 1989 MRI
 of Employee’s thoracic spine was negative.  (MRI report, Janice A. Anderson, MD, and David A. Moeller, MD, 2/6/1989).

10. On February 13, 1989, Dr. James noted Employee’s thoracic root injury was persistent, but his pain was somewhat relieved by Feldene and he should continue his normal activities.  (Dr. James, chart note, 2/13/1989).

11. On May 31, 1989, Dr. James noted Employee continued to have intermittent thoracic back pain relieved significantly with Feldene.   Dr. James noted Employee was becoming depressed and suggested antidepressants.  Employee opted to wait until the next follow up visit to determine if depression has improved.  (Dr. James, chart note, 5/31/1989).

12. On August 21, 1989, Employee returned to Dr. James who noted Employee was doing reasonably well and controlling his pain with anti-inflammatories.  Dr. James changed pain medications to Meclomen due to GI distress caused by Feldene.  Dr. James also prescribed Elavil to be taken at bed time to help Employee with rest and to help with continued depression.  (Dr. James, chart note, 8/21/1989).

13. On October 5, 1989, Employee saw Dr. James who noted an improvement in Employee’s depression and continued the Elavil.  (Dr. James, chart note, 10/5/1989).

14. On April 5, 1990, Lavern Davidhizar, DO, prescribed Talwin NX for pain in Employee’s left posterior rib cage stemming from the 1988 injury.  (Dr. Davidhizar, chart note, 4/5/1990).

15. On April 19, 1990, Dr. James noted no substantive change in Employee’s condition.  Dr. James opined it was not reasonable to use chiropractic care to treat his chronic pain, but it was reasonable to use chiropractic care for severe re-exacerbation of Employee’s pain.  Finally, Dr. James opined there was no specific treatment which would resolve the thoracic root issue and any further care would be to alleviate symptoms.  (Dr. James, chart note, 4/19/1990).

16. On April 5, 1990, Employee was evaluated by Dr.  Davidhizar for back pain related to his work injury.  Dr. Davidhizar prescribed physical therapy and Talwin NX.  (Dr. Davidhizar, chart note, 4/5/1990).

17. On May 31, 1999, Dr. James refilled Employee’s Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, 5/31/1999).

18. On November 7, 1990, Employee returned to Dr. James after his second work injury, complaining of a pop in his thoracic spine and “severe thoracic back pain referred into the left chest wall.”  Dr. James noted an MRI ruled out a disc injury, but showed probable traction injury to the left T6 root with parathesias and referred pain.  Dr. James took Employee off work for two weeks and prescribed Tylox and Anexia.  (Dr. James, chart note, 11/7/1990).

19. On November 19, 1990, Dr. James noted Employee showed minimal improvement. Employee was referred to Dr. West for manipulative treatment and to physical therapy for daily ultrasound treatment.  (Dr. James, chart note, 11/19/1990).

20. On November 26, 1990, physical therapist Bridget Kulick noted Employee’s medications to include Anexsia and Tylox.  (PT Note, Kulick, 11/26/1990).

21. On December 14, 1990, Dr. West noted, in a letter to Marlene Sjoberg, Employee returned to his clinic for treatment of the second work injury.  Dr. West questioned whether the second injury was an exacerbation of the original injury.  (Dr. West letter, 12/14/1990).

22. On February 25, 1991, Dr. James noted concern regarding long-term use of narcotics,  instructed Employee to taper use of Anexsia, and provided samples of a lower dose of Anexsia to aid the tapering process.  (Dr. James, chart note, 2/25/1991).

23. On June 27, 1991, Dr. James noted Employee’s condition remained unchanged but was doing “reasonably well” and tapering the Anexsia.    Employee was given Darvocet as an alternative to Anexsia, as well as a prescription for Flexeril.  (Dr. James, chart note, 6/27/1991).

24. On July 3, 1991, Employee requested a new prescription for Anexsia due to Darvocet making him sleepy, which was approved by Dr. James.  (C. Knuckle, CMA, handwritten chart note, 7/3/1991).

25. On December 10, 1991, M.C. Deede, MD, performed a thorough physical on Employee.  In his medical history she noted he smoked one to two packs of cigarettes per day and chewed two to four cans of chewing tobacco per day.  She also noted he reportedly being a heavy drinker previously but now only has one beer per month.  (Dr. Deede, chart note, 12/10/1991).

26. On December 20, 1991, Employee was evaluated by Theodore Obenchain, MD, for a flare up of symptoms while traveling.  Dr. Obenchain diagnosed probable thoracic facet pain with prominent left hemithoracic pain.  Dr. Obenchain noted Employee smoked one-half pack of cigarettes per day.  (Dr. Obenchain, chart note, 12/20/1991).

27. On January 27, 1992, Employee returned to Dr. James for a “re-exacerbation” of thoracic back pain.  Dr. James noted the natural history of thoracic and facet syndrome is an increase in symptoms with an increase in activity but symptoms may also increase for no apparent reason.  Dr. James noted pain medications could be increased to treat these flare ups, but he recommended three to four chiropractic visits in one month followed by monthly visits.  (Dr. James, chart note, 1/27/1992).

28. On May 28, 1992, Employee returned to Dr. James for routine follow up.  Dr. James noted Employee’s pain had not responded to chiropractic treatment as well as in the past.  Dr. James diagnosed thoracic facet syndrome, recommended Employee begin a regular swimming program, and prescribed Talwin (a non-narcotic preparation) for pain relief.  (Dr. James, chart note, 5/28/1992).

29. On June 15, 1992, Employee returned to Dr. James complaining Talwin caused drowsiness and irritability.  Dr. James switched Employee back to Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, 6/15/1992).

30. On August 6, 1992, Dr. James characterized Employee’s pain as “persistent…unremitting, requiring increased medications to control…and allow functional activities.”  Dr. James administered a corticosteroid/Marcaine injection which provided immediate relief.  (Dr. James, chart note, 8/6/1992).

31. On November 2, 1992, Dr. James noted Employee’s pain was partially relieved with Anexsia and Darvocet and refilled Employee’s prescriptions.  (Dr. James, chart note, 11/2/1992).

32. On November 30 1992, Employee returned to Dr. James who provided a new Darvocet prescription.  (Dr. James, chart note, 11/30/1992).

33. On February 22, 1993, Dr. James noted some changes in Employee’s job to which Employee had adapted.  He also noted Employee took two days off work after an exacerbation of his symptoms which provided relief.  Dr. James noted Employee continued to use Anexsia, averaging 45 pills in 30 days, and Darvocet, 30 pills in 30 days.  (Dr. James, chart note, 2/22/1993).

34. On April 28, 1993, Dr. James noted Employee was working harder which resulted in increased pain.  Dr. James noted he would not prescribe more than 45 tablets of Anexsia per 30 days and warned Employee the relief he got from Anexsia will diminish, requiring a higher dose for the same relief over time.  Employee was directed to use Darvocet to supplement Anexsia for pain relief.  Dr. James also recommended a trial of Lodine as an alternative pain reliever.  (Dr. James, chart note, 4/28/1993).

35. On October 14, 1993, Dr. James noted Employee’s pain was increasing.  Dr. James decreased Anexsia to one every other day, noted Darvocet was of “no value,” and added Talwin to use on days when no Anexsia was used.  Dr. James also provided Feldene to supplement Anexsia and Talwin.  (Dr. James, chart note, 10/14/1993).

36. On May 2, 1994, Dr. James refilled Employee’s Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, 5/2/1994).

37. On August 25, 1994, Employee requested refills of Anexsia and Darvocet.  Dr. James approved the refills along with Feldene, but ordered Anexsia to not be refilled until August 30, 1994.  (RN Kzul, handwritten chart note, 8/25/1994).

38. On September 30, 1994, Employee requested his pain medication be switched to Tylenol 3.  (Handwritten chart note without a noted author, 9/30/1994).

39. On October 13, 1994, Dr. James noted Tylenol 3 (codeine) was ineffective and Feldene was discontinued due to gastrointestinal issues.  Dr. James discussed with Employee the use of varying drugs, his intention only to prescribe “modest” analgesics which might be modified depending on the length of time they were used.  Dr. James prescribed Anexsia 5 mg every other day with Darvocet N-100.  (Dr. James, chart note, 10/13/1994).

40. On January 18, 1995, a Physician’s Report form completed by a provider with an illegible signature noted Employee was medically stationary and released to modified work with restrictions of no heavy lifting, pushing or pulling.  The provider prescribed a trial of Flexeril and physical therapy, stated Employee’s symptoms suggested a fibromyalgia type problem, and provided a non-refillable prescription for Vicodin and Darvocet which were requested by Employee.  This provider advised Employee narcotics as treatment for chronic pain was “not possible.”  (1/18/1995 Physician’s Report with illegible signature).

41. On February 16, 1995, Dr. James examined Employee and noted no change in his condition.  Dr. James found Employee to be medically stable, needed no retraining, and had a 7% permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating according to the American Medical Association’s Guides to Permanent Impairment, 3rd Edition.  (Dr. James, chart note, 2/16/1995).

42. On May 11, 1995, Dr. James noted Employee’s condition had not changed and he was able to function on one Anexsia 7.5 mg and one Darvocet N-100 per day.  (Dr. James, chart note, 5/11/1995).

43. On August 31, 1995, Dr. James noted he discussed his “Narcotic Use for Chronic Pain” policy with Employee.  Dr. James emphasized, and Employee agreed, narcotic pain medications would only be provided by Dr. James’ office and Employee would not seek narcotic pain medication from other physicians.  Dr. James also noted refills would only be provided once a month without exception.  (Dr. James, chart note, 8/31/1995).

44. On September 12, 1995, Employee was examined by Rob Lotstein, MD, after suffering a lifting injury at work.  Dr. Lotstein diagnosed a probable inguinal hernia and prescribed 20 Darvocet N-100 for pain.  (Dr. Lotstein, chart note, 9/12/1995).

45. On February 15, 1996, an inguinal hernia was ruled out by Joseph Sangster, MD, a general surgeon.  (Dr. Sangster, chart note, 2/15/1996).

46. On March 14, 1996, Employee was examined by Dr. Deede who noted Employee had been taking Anexsia 300 mg.  Employee complained his back pain was worse when getting out of bed.  Dr. Deede noted “normal ROM” (range of motion) when examining Employee’s back.  (Dr. Deede, chart note, 3/14/1996).

47. On July 9, 1996, Dr. James performed a YNSA
 which totally relieved Employee’s pain.  Dr. James prescribed Lodine 300 mg and directed Employee to return annually unless an uncontrollable exacerbation of his pain occured.  (Dr. James, chart note, 7/9/1996).

48. On September 30, 1996, Dr. James evaluated Employee for variable shoulder, hip, and neck pain.  Dr. James again performed a YNSA which relieved Employee’s symptoms.  Dr. James refilled Employee’s Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, 9/30/1996).

49. On July 30, 1997, Dr. James noted Employee’s symptoms continued to wax and wane depending on activity level.  Dr. James refilled Employee’s prescriptions but replaced Darvocet with Ultram and provided a prescription for Neurontin.  (Dr. James, chart note, 7/30/1997).

50. On April 8, 1998, Dr. James examined Employee for his annual follow up.  Dr. James noted Employee was doing well and his pain was status quo.  Dr. James refilled Anexsia twice a day, and suggested using Ultram for break through pain.  (Dr. James, chart note, 4/8/1998).

51. On January 14, 1999, Dr. James tested Employee for rheumatoid arthritis, which was negative.  Dr. James also refilled a prescription for Hydrocodone 7.5 mg providing 75 for one month.  (Dr. James, chart note, 1/14/1999, 1/19/1999 lab results).  There is no indication in the record of an original prescription for Hydrocodone, but it is possible Hydrocodone was substituted for Anexsia which contains Hydrocodone.  (Experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
52. On April 19, 1999, Employer controverted benefits related to joint pain or arthritis of wrists, hands, knees or feet.  (4/19/1999 Controversion).

53. On October 11, 1999, Dr. James noted no significant change in Employee’s back pain.  He also refilled Employee’s medications, but did not note which medications were refilled.  (Dr. James, chart note, 10/11/1999).

54. On December 1, 2000, Dr. James noted no change in Employee’s condition and refilled his medications including Anexsia.  (Dr. James, chart note, 12/1/2000).

55. On September 6, 2001, Dr. James noted no improvement in Employee’s condition and discussed the possibility of utilizing facet blocks/median branch blocks for temporary, or possibly permanent, relief.  Dr. James noted if relief from the blocks was temporary radiofrequency median branch neurectomies might provide permanent relief.  Employee wished to proceed with the blocks so they were scheduled.  Dr. James prescribed Vioxx and refilled Employee’s other medications.  (Dr. James, chart note, 9/6/2001).

56. On October 22, 2001, Dr. James performed bilateral T8, T9, and T10 facet blocks.  (Dr. James, procedure note, 10/22/2001).

57. On November 6, 2001, Dr. James noted Employee had a 50% reduction in his pain for four to five days with gradual return and 10% escalation in pain from before the facet blocks.  Dr. James ordered an MRI to look for changes or progression in Employee’s thoracic spine.  Dr. James refilled prescriptions including Anexsia and substituted Celebrex for Vioxx.  (Dr. James, chart note, 11/6/2001).

58. An MRI performed on November 28, 2001, revealed mild degenerative changes T5-T6, T6-T7, and T7-T8 without evidence of disc herniation, cord abnormality, or pathologic involvement.  (MRI report, John Kottra, MD, 11/28/2001).

59. On November 29, 2001, Robyn Yates, ANP, examined Employee in follow up to the MRI which demonstrated no change in disc integrity.  She noted Employee did not respond favorably to the thoracic facet injections, refilled Employee’s medications and added Zanaflex, a muscle relaxer.  ANP Yates also referred Employee for four weeks of physical therapy.  (PT referral, 11/29/2001).

60. On January 15, 2002, Employee was again evaluated by ANP Yates who noted Employee had not participated in PT due to his work schedule.  ANP Yates also noted Employee was now taking Anexsia Extra Strength, Celebrex and Zanaflex for his back pain which had recently been exacerbated.  ANP Yates again recommended PT to which Employee agreed and added a prescription for Norco 10/325 to Employee’s pain medication regimen.  (ANP Yates, chart note, 1/15/2002).

61. On August 21, 2002, Shawna Wilson, ANP-C, noted Employee’s back pain remained the same, but that he was highly functional on his current medication regimen.  ANP-C Wilson substituted Bextra for Vioxx, but otherwise refilled Employee’s medications.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 8/21/2002).

62. On December 3, 2002, and March 10, 2003, ANP-C Wilson refilled Employee’s medications.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart notes, 12/3/2002 and 3/10/2003).

63. On June 26, 2003, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee’s back pain had not changed but he was now complaining of carpal tunnel syndrome like symptoms and fatigue.  ANP-C Wilson refilled Employee’s medications.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 6/26/2003).

64. On July 2, 2003, ANP-C Wilson sent a letter to Employee noting his fatigue might be caused by depression or chronic narcotic use.  (Letter from ANP-C Wilson to Employee, 7/2/2003).

65. On July 15, 2003, Dr. James performed electrodiagnostic studies of Employee’s upper extremities which revealed mild bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, left greater than right, and increased polyphasic potentials in the cervical paraspinals, which suggested a degenerative disc condition in the cervical spine.  (Dr. James, electrodiagnostic studies, 7/15/2003).

66. On July 28, 2003, Employer controverted medical treatment for carpal tunnel syndrome.  (7/28/2003 Controversion).

67. On October 30, 2003, ANP-C Wilson refilled Employee’s medications, noted Employee was recently laid off from his job, and was now complaining of left lower quadrant pain and intermittent low back pain which radiated into the groin.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 10/30/2003).

68. On January 30, 2004, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee recently suffered two significant exacerbations of his back pain without any apparent trigger, which lasted approximately one week before returning to base line.  She also diagnosed Employee with depression and prescribed Zoloft.  Employee’s pain medications were refilled.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 1/30/2004).

69. On March 15, 2004, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee’s depression was improved and Employee was planning on driving his truck full time.  She refilled Employee’s medications including Zoloft.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 3/15/2004).

70. On June 29, 2004, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee’s work as a truck driver increased his back pain which was to be expected upon returning to work after nearly a year of unemployment.  She refilled his medications.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 6/29/2004).

71. On July 8, 2004, ANP-C Wilson documented a phone call from Margarite McIntosh, MD, which indicated Employee had been receiving pain medications from Dr. McIntosh in addition to those prescribed by ANP-C Wilson.  When confronted Employee admitted taking up to ten tablets per day and knew his behavior had gotten out of hand.  Employee contracted with Dr. McIntosh to taper his medications and find alternative ways for pain reduction.  ANP-C Wilson noted Employee should continue Bextra, Zoloft and Prevacid, but Dr. McIntosh would take over any narcotic prescriptions.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 7/8/2004).

72. On July 8, 2004, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee was being weaned off of narcotics.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 7/8/2004).

73. On August 24, 2004, Employee returned to ANP-C Wilson complaining of unremitting pain that was preventing him from working.  Employee wished to repeat the medial branch blocks which provided short term relief previously.  ANP-C agreed to repeat the blocks followed by the radiofrequency procedure if the blocks provided only temporary relief.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 8/24/2004).

74. On August 24, 2004, a thoracic MRI revealed a degenerated disc at T5-T6 with a small herniation to the right of midline, slightly effacing the thecal sac, with no obvious compression of the cord or nerve root.  (8/24/2004 MRI report, Harold Cable, MD).

75. On August 25, 2004, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee was getting pain medication prescriptions on a weekly basis.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 8/25/2004).

76. On September 1, 2004, Dr. James performed left T7, T8, T9 and T10 medial branch blocks, which provided a week of relief.  (Dr. James, chart notes, 9/1 and 15/2004).  

77. On September 15, 2004, Dr. James performed right T7, T8, T9, and T10 facet blocks.  (Dr. James, chart notes, 9/15/2004).

78. On September 30, 2004, Employee reported no improvement of his pain symptoms.  ANP-C Wilson noted Employee’s pain should wane over the next two to three weeks.  Employee noted he was prescribed Imipramine and he was taking ten per day.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 9/30/2004).

79. On November 11, 2004, Employee continued to report no improvement in his pain from the radiofrequency procedure.  Employee was also angry about medicine changes made by Dr. McIntosh who was prescribing medications which had not worked in the past on Employee’s pain.  ANP-C Wilson suggested a trial of Neurontin.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 11/11/2004).

80. On December 9, 2004, Employee was evaluated by Edward Grossenbacher, MD, for an Employer’s Medical Evaluation (EME).  Dr. Grossenbacher diagnosed degenerative disc disease T5-T6, T7-T8 with small disc herniation to the right at T5-T6, history of depression, carpal tunnel syndrome right and left, and chronic thoracic radiculopathy.  Dr. Grossenbacher opined the carpal tunnel syndrome was not related to the October 28, 1990 work injury, agreed with Dr. James’ 7% PPI rating, and opined Employee’s current treatment was related to his work injury.  He further opined Employee was able to return to his occupation at the time of injury, was not a surgical candidate, and was medically stable.  (EME Report, Dr. Grossenbacher).

81. On December 16, 2004, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee’s condition was stable, and refilled prescriptions for Bextra, Prevacid and Zanaflex.  Employee requested a prescription for Ambien but ANP-C Wilson declined the request prior to consultation with Dr. McIntosh.  Employee was prescribed Empirin and Ultram by Dr. McIntosh for pain.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 12/16/2004).

82. On May 3, 2005, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee had returned to work full time and his symptoms continued to wax and wane with activity.  ANP-C Wilson noted Employee was having significant myofascial pain in the left thoracic and cervical area, and performed trigger point injections which provided immediate relief.  Employee was taking Ultram, Wellbutrin, and aspirin.  Nexium was substituted for Prevacid.  She provided Employee with samples of Celebrex and Ambien.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 5/3/2005).

83. On July 20, 2005, Dr. McIntosh noted working increased Employee’s pain in his neck and mid-thoracic down to the lumbar spine.  She also noted Employee’s blood pressure was elevated due to his pain level.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 7/20/2005).

84. Employee was found fit for a Commercial Driver’s License (CDL) on August 5, 2005, by Daniel Nyitrai, PA.  (Medical Examination Report, 8/5/2005).

85. On August 8, 2005, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee received several weeks of relief of his left scapula and neck musculature pain after the trigger point injections and wished to repeat them.  ANP-C Wilson added Zanaflex to Employee’s medication regimen.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 8/8/2005).

86. On October 27, 2005, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee received six weeks of pain relief from the trigger point injections, and they were repeated.  Employee continued to complain of carpal tunnel syndrome symptoms and also complained of bilateral shoulder pain which were not related to his work injury.  Another issue with pain medications was discussed with Employee at this examination.  Employee had a pain contract with Alaska Spine Institute/ANP-C Wilson and was receiving codeine from Dr. McIntosh, as well as taking up to 8 Empirin and “handfuls” of ibuprofen.  ANP-C Wilson changed his pain medication to Tylenol 3 with a maximum of five per day.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 10/27/2005).

87. On November 14, 2005, ANP-C Wilson evaluated Employee’s left shoulder pain and suspected rotator cuff impingement or strain.  She administered two steroid injections into Employee’s left shoulder which provided immediate relief of some pain.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 11/14/2005).

88. On December 6, 2005, Employer controverted medical treatment for left shoulder and bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.  (12/6/2005 Controversion).

89. On December 8, 2005, shoulder steroid injections were repeated.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 12/8/2005).

90. On February 20, 2006, ANP-C Wilson repeated trigger point injections for Employee’s work related myofascial pain.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 2/20/2006).

91. Employee continued to receive sporadic chiropractic treatment to his thoracic area.  (Dr. Koob chart notes).

92. On June 28, 2006, Employee tested positive for codeine in an employer urine drug screen.  Employee informed his employer at the time that he had a prescription, he used the medication two to three times per week, and did not use the medication at work.  Dr. Elam noted the level of codeine was not high and barely showed up positive despite a prescription pattern that indicated use of four to five pills a day.  (Memorandum of Conversation between Dr. Elam and James Roberts, 6/28/2006).

93. Trigger point injections were repeated on July 6, 2006, when Employee suffered an exacerbation of his pain.  (Dr. James, chart note, 7/6/2006).

94. On October 17, 2006, trigger point injections were repeated.  Employee’s medications were noted to be Tylenol 3, Ultram, Zanaflex, Celebrex and Ambien.  (unsigned ASI chart note, 10/17/2006).

95. Trigger point injections were repeated on January 12, 2007.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 1/12/2007).

96. On April 26, 2007, Employee tested positive for oxycodone, codeine and morphine.  (Drug Test Results, 4/26/2007).

97. On April 26, 2007, ANP-C Wilson noted Employee recently suffered a severe exacerbation of his thoracic pain with a new finding of paresthesia of the chest wall.  She reiterated Employee’s need for the anti-depressant Wellbutrin and Nexium is a result of his work injury.  She stated Employee suffered from depression, sleep disturbance, and nausea/gastritis as a consequence of his work injury.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 4/26/2007).

98. A May 10, 2007 MRI showed disc degenerative changes in the mid dorsal spine consisting of disc space narrowing and dessication, and a tiny midline protrusion at T6-T7 without mass effect on adjacent neural elements.  (MRI Report, John McCormick, MD, 5/10/2007).

99. On May 23, 2007, ANP-C Wilson authored a letter to Employee which stated she was aware of his recent drug test which showed the presence of oxycodone, a medication not prescribed by her, in violation of Employee’s drug contract.    ANP-C Wilson informed Employee her office would no longer prescribe pain medications or any controlled substance for him.  (Letter to Employee from ANP-C Wilson, 5/23/2007).

100. On June 21, 2007, ANP-C Wilson noted the results of Employee’s drug test were wrongly reported and no oxycodone was present when he was tested on April 26, 2007.  She noted Employee’s symptoms continued and provided trigger point injections and prescriptions for Tylenol 3 and Ambien.  ANP-C Wilson discontinued Celebrex and Ultram.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 6/21/2007).

101. On August 16, 2007, Employee underwent an MRI of his cervical spine due to left upper extremity numbness.  Kamran Janjua, MD’s, impression was moderate discogenic spondylosis C5-C6 without associated cord impingement, severe bilateral neural foraminal narrowing from C3-C4 and C6-C7, and overall mild multilevel degenerative disc and degenerative facet disease.  (Dr. Janjua, MRI report, 8/16/2007).

102. On November 13, 2007, ANP-C Wilson performed trigger point injections and renewed Employee’s prescriptions including Celebrex and Ultram.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 11/13/2007).

103. On November 26, 2007, Employee was examined by Dr. McIntosh for his neck pain.  Dr. McIntosh diagnosed cervical disc disease and prescribed Nabumetone, Chlorzoxazone, and Ultram for Employee’s neck pain.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 11/26/2007).

104.  On January 31, 2008, Employee was examined by Davis Peterson, MD, for neck pain.  Dr. Peterson recommended EMG/NCV testing of the left upper extremity, consultation with Advance Medical Centers of Alaska for possible left-sided facet blocks at C5-C6, and physical therapy, after diagnosing chronic neck pain likely from facet arthropathy, non-dermatonal numbness in upper extremities and possible rotator cuff pathology.  (Dr. Peterson, chart note, 1/31/2008).

105. On March 4, 2008, Gregory Polston, MD, performed cervical facet injections of left C4-C5 and C5-C6.  (Procedure note, 3/4/2008).

106. On March 13, 2008, ANP-C Wilson performed more trigger point injections and refilled Employee’s medications with no changes.  (ANP-C Wilson, chart note, 3/13/2008).

107. On April 14, 2008, Dr. McIntosh prescribed MSIR (morphine  sulfate immediate-release) for Employee’s pain in his cervical and thoracic spine, and left trapezius muscle.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 4/14/2008).

108. On April 22, 2008, Dr. Polston performed diagnostic cervical medial branch blocks at C4, C5, and C6 on the left.  (Dr. Polston, procedure note, 4/22/2008).

109. On April 23, 2008, Franklin Ellenson, MD, performed nerve conduction studies and EMG on Employee for complaints of left shoulder and neck pain with numbness in the left third and fourth digit.  The NCV/EMG was normal.  (Dr. Ellenson, report, 4/23/2008).

110. On April 24, 2008, Dr. McIntosh signed a “Physician Certification for Family or Medical Leave” for Employee to be off work from April 12, 2008 to June 25, 2008 for a chronic condition which was expected to last more than three months and rendered Employee totally unable to work.  (Physician Certification for Family or Medical Leave form signed by Dr. McIntosh on April 24, 2008).

111. It is unclear from the Physician Certification for Family or Medical Leave form which chronic condition Dr. McIntosh was referring to when she signed the form.  (Experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
112. On May 12, 2008, Margaret Scrimger, MD, noted Employee was using MSIR four times per day.  (Dr. Scrimger, chart note, 5/12/2008).

113. On May 19, 2008, Dr. McIntosh evaluated Employee for his chronic neck pain.  She noted morphine was not working and discontinued it, and prescribed Percocet.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 5/19/2008).

114. On June 19, 2008, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s neck pain was radiating to his thoracic spine.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 6/19/2008).

115. On August 8, 2008, Dr. McIntosh evaluated Employee in follow up to his workers’ compensation injury.  She noted severe pain in the thoracic spine which radiated “up and down.”  She further noted Employee complained of waking, both in the middle of the night and in the morning, in excruciating pain for two hours until his pain medicine got into his system.  Dr. McIntosh stopped Tramadol and added Fentanyl patches to Employee’s pain medication regimen.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 8/8/2008).

116. On September 12, 2008, Dr. McIntosh documented Employee’s pain as being very severe, noted he could not do anything around the house, long periods of sitting exacerbated the pain, Employee was not able to lift his left arm over his head, and bending his head forward caused pain to shoot down the thoracic spine.  She diagnosed myofascial pain syndrome and increased Fentanyl.  A prescription for 240 Endocet 10/325 to be taken one to two every four hours as needed was given to Employee.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 9/12/2008).

117. On September 27, 2008, a physical capacities evaluation (PCE) was conducted which found Employee could lift 50 pounds occasionally and 10 pounds frequently, stand or walk for six hours a day, sit about six hours a day, and could climb ladders/ropes/scaffolds occasionally.  (E. Caldwell, PCE, 9/27/2008).

118. Employee was approved for Social Security Disability payments based on discogenic and degenerative disorders of the back.  Social Security determined his date of disability to be March 25, 2008.  (Disability determination and transmittal dated 11/22/2008).

119. On October 15, 2008, Dr. McIntosh noted improvement in Employee’s pain.  She noted bending his head forward caused “electric” pain to shoot down his thoracic spine, and if his head remained in that position, his leg (it was not noted which leg) would get numb.  She also noted his hands were numb all the time, which Employee attributed to carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS).  She referred Employee to the Alaska Spine Institute (ASI) for consideration of a spinal cord stimulator.  She ordered new MRIs of the cervical and thoracic spine, and added Celebrex to the medication regimen.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 10/15/2008).

120. On October 24, 2008, Thad Stanford, MD, conducted an Employer’s Medical Evaluation (EME).  Dr. Stanford’s impression was chronic intradiscal injury to the mid thoracic spine, T8-T9 and/or T9-T10.  Dr. Stanford opined Employee might be a surgical candidate including disc replacement, was not a drug seeker, did not have a low pain tolerance, but his pain was progressing with time which was normal.  Dr. Stanford further opined Employee’s shoulder impingement, cervical pain, and right buttock pain were not related to the 1990 work injury.  (EME 10/24/2008).

121. On October 27, 2008, James Eule, MD, examined Employee and assessed cervical degenerative changes with questionable cervical radiculopathy, facet anthropathy, and small thoracic disc herniation of unlikely clinical significance.  Dr. Eule noted Employee blamed his neck pain on his 1994 work injury.  Dr. Eule ordered repeat cervical and thoracic MRIs and requested copies of recent EMG testing.  Dr. Eule stated a spinal cord stimulator would be the last option in this case.  (Dr. Eule, chart note, 10/27/2008).

122. On October 28, 2008, Employer controverted medical benefits for the shoulder, cervical spine or low back.  (10/28/2008 Controversion).

123.  On October 30, 2008, Dr. Eule reviewed Employee’s MRIs and EMGs and stated Employee was not a surgical candidate.  Dr. Eule referred Employee back to Dr. Polston for consideration of a spinal cord stimulator trial.  (Dr. Eule, chart note, 10/30/08).

124. On January 28, 2009, Dr. McIntosh refilled Employee’s medications and noted he was getting satisfactory pain relief from the combination of Endocet, Fentanyl and Celebrex.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 1/28/2009).

125. On February 11, 2009, Dr. Ellenson examined Employee for chronic back pain.  Dr. Ellenson prescribed a muscle relaxer and massage therapy, and recommended Employee consider Botox injections.  (Dr. Ellenson, chart note, 2/11/2009).

126. On May 12, 2009, Dr. McIntosh, in a letter to Adjuster Patti Mackay, noted Employee’s prescription medications Flomax, Zolpidem, Nexium, Endocet, Fentanel, Celebrex and Tramadol were all related to his work injury.  She also noted no physician has recommended surgery.  (Letter, 5/12/2009).

127. On May 15, 2009, Dr. Stanford reviewed Employee’s records and issued a supplemental EME.  Dr. Stanford opined Employee’s pain complaints were not aligned with the objective medical evidence.  He also opined Employee no longer needed any treatment with the exception of counseling to wean him from excessive narcotic pain medications.  (EME 5/15/2009).

128. On October 13, 2009, Employer controverted all medical treatment except counseling to wean Employee from narcotic pain medication.  (10/13/2009 Controversion).

129. On December 22, 2009, Employer controverted all medical benefits including weaning from narcotics.  (12/22/2009 Controversion).

130. On December 30, 2009, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s medications had been controverted and he could only afford methadone.  She prescribed methadone which she noted caused Employee to be very sleepy.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note and physicians report, 12/30/2009).

131. On April 29, 2010, Dr. McIntosh noted Employee’s “conservative approach to medication use” and the shame he associates with the use of methadone.  She further noted Employee was afraid his methadone use would make his children think it was ok to use drugs.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 4/29/2010).

132. On May 20, 2010, Dr. McIntosh noted in a letter Employee’s documented T7 radiculopathy from the 1988 injury, which she opined was exacerbated by the 1990 injury.  She noted Employee’s continued pain complaints and need for pain medication.  Her diagnoses were chronic thoracic spine pain, myofascial pain of the thoracic area, depression secondary to chronic pain and functional limitation, thoracic radiculopathy, thoracic degenerative disc disease (DDD), thoracic arthropathy, and hypertension probably secondary to antiinflammatories used to treat his pain.  She further noted Employee had a permanent partial impairment and was on Social Security Disability (SSDI).  Dr. McIntosh opined Employee’s need for treatment was reasonable and necessary, and certainly work related to either the 1988 or 1990 work injury.  (Letter 5/20/2010).

133. On July 1, 2010, Employee’s workers’ compensation claim was amended to include permanent and total disability (PTD), among other issues.  (7/1/2010 WCC).

134. On August 13, 2010, Dr. McIntosh reexamined Employee and noted his thoracic spine was very tender, his trapezius muscle had “exquisitely tender” knots, and continued numbness around chest wall.  Dr. McIntosh refilled Employee’s methadone prescription for one month.  (Dr. McIntosh, chart note, 8/13/2010).

135. On September 13, 2010, Dr. McIntosh reaffirmed her statements in the May 20, 2010 letter.  (Handwritten note on copy of 5/20/2010 letter).

136. On September 20, 2010, Employer controverted all benefits based on Dr. Stanford’s EME report, the possible application of the last injurious exposure rule,  failure to mitigate damages, AS 23.30.105, AS 23.30.095, and the doctrine of laches.  (9/20/2010 Controversion).

137. On October 4, 2010, Dr. McIntosh answered questions posed by Employee’s counsel.  Dr. McIntosh confirmed Employee’s work injury was a substantial factor in causing his current back and neck conditions and need for treatment.  Employee had reached maximum medical improvement since managing his pain was the only remaining option.  (9/28/2010 Letter from M. Jensen, completed and signed by Dr. McIntosh on 10/4/2010).

138. On October 6, 2010, Dr. McIntosh followed up with another letter to Mr. Jensen noting Dr. Stanford’s agreement with Employee’s treating physicians on October 24, 2008.  Also, Dr. McIntosh discounted the Adjuster’s assertion that a fifteen year old injury could not continue to cause pain.  She noted nerve injuries can worsen over time, and disagreed with the controversion.  (10/6/2010 letter).

139. On December 9, 2010, Dr. James responded to a letter from Mr. Jensen and affirmed Employee’s work injury was a substantial factor in causing his current neck and back conditions, and a substantial factor in combining with any preexisting condition resulting in a need for further treatment.  Dr. James also stated Employee had reached maximum medical improvement and had a previous PPI rating of 7% on February 16, 1995.  (12/9/2010 Letter from M. Jensen and completed by Dr. James on January 19, 2011).

140. On December 22, 2010, Employer controverted temporary total disability (TTD), PPI, medical benefits and related transportation, reemployment benefits, attorney fees and costs, and penalties and interest.  (12/22/2010 Controversion).

141. On January 19, 2011, Dr. James examined Employee and noted no change in his back pain and that narcotic pain medication provided less pain control over time.  (Dr. James, chart note, 1/19/2011).

142. On January 20, 2011, Employer controverted physician charges for time spent related to “workman’s compensation advice” and for “dictating a letter to [Employee’s] potential future lawyer.”  (1/20/2011 Controversion).

143. On March 7, 2011, Employee was examined by Gary Olbrich, MD, who is an addiction specialist, for another EME.  Dr. Olbrich thoroughly documented Employee’s pharmaceutical use during the course of recovery to include narcotic and non-narcotic medications.  Dr. Olbrich also documented a history of heavy drinking as a young man and smoking.  Employee no longer drinks or smokes.  Dr. Olbrich’s impressions were opioid dependence maintained in active state by use of prescription medications, nicotine dependence in remission, GERD,
 depressive disorder, and chronic pain syndrome secondary primarily to psychosocial causes and not necessarily accompanied by a recognized organic pain generator.  Dr. Olbrich opined Employee’s addictive disease was preexisting and was responsible for both chronic pain and depression. Therefore, he stated the work injuries were not a substantial factor in Employee’s disability or need for medical treatment.  The only treatment recommended by Dr. Olbrich is inpatient drug abuse rehabilitation which is also not work related.  Dr. Olbrich finally opines Employee’s addictive disease is not medically stable. (EME 3/7/2011).

144. On April 11, 2011, Employer controverted all benefits based on Dr. Olbrich’s EME report.  (4/11/2011 Controversion).

145. On May 2, 2011, Dr. Olbrich supplemented his EME opinion after reviewing additional medical records.  Dr. Olbrich noted Employee quit smoking, but continues to use chewing tobacco, which led Dr. Olbrich to amend his diagnosis to nicotine dependence active and maintained with oral tobacco.  Dr. Olbrich also opined Employee’s use of Tramadol/Ultram compounded Employee’s addictive disease.  (EME 5/2/2011).

146. On May 5, 2011, Dr. West defined “military spine” as a straight spine with loss of the normal curvatures.  (To whom it may concern letter from Dr. West, 5/5/2011).

147. Narcotic is defined as any of a class of substances that blunt the senses, as opium, morphine, belladonna, and alcohol, that in large quantities produce euphoria, stupor, or coma, that when used constantly can cause habituation or addiction, and that are used in medicine to relieve pain, cause sedation, and induce sleep.  (Dictionary.reference.com).

148. Employee has been prescribed the following medications since his 1988 work injury which are narcotics according to the United States Department of Justice, Drug Enforcement Agency:

a. Hydrocodone with acetaminophen in the form of Anexsia, Vicodin, and Norco.

b. Hydrocodone.

c. Oxycodone with acetaminophen in the form of Tylox, Endocet, and Percocet.

d. Dextropropoxyphen with acetaminophen in the form of Darvocet.

e. Tylenol 3.

f. MSIR (morphine).

g. Fentanyl.

h. Methadone.  

(USDOJ, DEA Controlled Substances List 8/3/2011).

149. None of the other medications prescribed to Employee and noted in the medical records which have been filed with the board are narcotics.  (Experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
150. Employee’s counsel filed an Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs Regarding Releases which itemized 25.9 attorney hours, 19.3 paralegal hours, and costs of $523.91.  Attorney hours were billed at $385 and paralegal hours were billed at $165.00.  Total Attorney’s fees and costs were $13,679.91.  Mr. Jensen also asserted 3.5 additional hours of attorney time and 2.0 hours of paralegal time since completion of the affidavit of fees was prepared for an additional $1,677.50.  The total attorney’s fees and costs submitted by Employee’s counsel were $15,357.41.  (Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs, Jensen).

151. Employer objected to Employee’s attorney’s fees as excessive for a narrowly tailored issue. Employer asserted many of the fees go to earlier decided discovery matters upon which Employee did not prevail or to general preparation for a later hearing on the merits which should not be awarded until Employee prevails on the merits.  

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

3)  this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board. . . .

. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules for all panels. . . .   Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . .
AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee's need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment. To establish a presumption under 
AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

Compensation or benefits under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act are payable only if the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment. It has long been held an employer must take the employee “as he finds him.”  Fox v. Alascom, Inc., 718 P.2d 977, 982 (Alaska 1986).  The board interprets “the substantial cause” of AS 23.30.010 in light of the long line of Alaska Supreme Court cases interpreting “substantial” to mean a quantum of evidence a reasonable person could believe sufficient to assign responsibility for causation. The board interprets “the” in the language of AS 23.30.010, in relation to other substantial causes, determining if the employment injury is the substantial cause which brings about the disability or death or need for medical treatment. See, e.g., Iversen v. Terrasond, Ltd, AWCB Decision No. 07-0350 at 16 (November 19, 2007).  The Commission interpreted the last two sentences in 
AS 23.30.010(a) as requiring employment “to be, more than any other cause, the substantial cause of the employee's disability, death, or need for medical treatment. It no longer suffices that employment is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm.”  City of Seward and Alaska Municipal League/Joint Insurance Association v. Hansen, AWCAC Dec. No. 146 (January 21, 2011).  Hansen requires evidence of all possible causes of disability, death or need for medical treatment to be evaluated.

The board’s authority to hear and determine questions in respect to a claim is “limited to the questions raised by the parties or by the agency upon notice duly given to the parties.”  Providence Health System and Sedgwick CMS v. Hessel, AWCAC Decision No. 09-0065 (March 24, 2010); Simon v. Alaska Wood Products, 633 P.2d 252, 256 (Alaska 1981).  

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  

AS 23.30.107. Release of Information.  (a) Upon written request, an employee shall provide written authority to the employer, carrier, rehabilitation specialist, or reemployment benefits administrator to obtain medical and rehabilitation information relative to the employee’s injury. The request must include notice of the employee’s right to file a petition for a protective order with the division and must be served by certified mail to the employee’s address on the notice of injury or by hand delivery to the employee. This subsection may not be construed to authorize an employer, carrier, rehabilitation specialist, or reemployment benefits administrator to request medical or other information that is not applicable to the employee’s injury. 


. . .

Employers have a right to thoroughly investigate workers’ compensation claims to verify information provided, properly administer claims, and effectively litigate disputed claims. Cooper v. Boatel, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 87‑0108 (May 4, 1987).   Medical and other releases are important means of doing so.  Under AS 23.30.107(a), an employee must release all evidence “relative” to the injury.  Evidence is “relative” to the claim where the information sought is reasonably calculated to lead to facts having any tendency to make an issue in a case more or less likely. Granus v. Fell, AWCB Decision No. 99-0016 (January 20, 1999).  Granus held that medical releases covering a period of two years prior to the work injury were sufficiently likely to lead to admissible evidence and were reasonable in most cases.  

A central question in most workers’ compensation proceedings is the cause, nature, and/or extent of employee’s injury, need for medical care, impairment, and disability.  In the typical case, medical records and doctors’ reports are the most relevant and probative evidence on these issues.  To ensure the board and parties have ready access to such evidence, the legislature abrogated the physician-patient privilege as to “facts relative to the injury or claim” in a workers’ compensation proceeding.
  The main question in determining if we have the power to compel the signing of a particular release is whether the information being sought is reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of facts “relevant” to employee’s injury or a question in dispute.  The burden of demonstrating the relevancy of information being sought rests with the proponent of the release.  Wariner v. Chugach Services, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 10-0075 (April 29, 2010).

The legal concept of “relevancy” describes a logical relationship between a fact and a question that must be decided in a case.  The relevancy of a fact is its tendency to establish a material proposition.  Edward W. Cleary, McCormick’s Handbook of the Law of Evidence, (2nd Edition) 1972, sec. 185 at 436.  The Commentary to Alaska Evidence Rule 401 explains:

Relevancy is not an inherent characteristic of any item of evidence but exists only as a relation between an item of evidence and a matter properly provable in the case.  Does the item of evidence tend to prove the matter sought to be proved?  Whether the relationship exists depends upon principles evolved by experience or science, applied logically to the situation at hand (citations omitted).

To render evidence admissible under the Alaska Evidence Rules, the relevancy relationship need not be strong: “[R]elevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”  Alaska Evidence Rule 401.
The first step in determining whether information sought is relevant is to analyze what matters are “at issue” or in dispute in the case.  The parties’ pleadings and the prehearing conference summaries are the initial source of the specific benefits employee is claiming, and the employer’s defenses to these claims.  Next, the elements employee must prove to establish his entitlement to each benefit claimed and the elements of employers’ affirmative defenses are examined to determine what propositions are properly the subjects of proof or refutation in the case.  It is also necessary to review available evidence to determine if there are specific material facts in dispute and whether the information being sought may be relevant to a potential witness’ cross examination.  Weseman v. Dairy Queen of Anchorage, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 90‑0027 (February 23, 1990). 

The question then becomes whether the information employers seek is relevant for discovery purposes, i.e., whether it is reasonably “calculated” to lead to facts that will have any tendency to make a question at issue in the case more or less likely, or support a defense.
  In interpreting the meaning of “relevant” in the context of discovery, we have previously stated:

We believe that the use of the word ‘relevant’ in this context should not be construed as imposing a burden on the party seeking the information to prove beforehand, that the information sought in its investigation of a claim is relevant evidence which meets the test of admissibility in court.  In many cases the party seeking information has no way of knowing what the evidence will be, until an opportunity to review it has been provided.

Schwab v. Hooper Electric, AWCB Decision No. 87‑0322 (December 11, 1987) (quoting Green v. Kake Tribal Corp., AWCB Decision No. 87‑0249 (July 6, 1987)).  

Based on the policy favoring liberal discovery, “calculated” to “lead to admissible evidence” means more than a mere possibility, but not necessarily a probability, that the information sought by the release will lead to admissible evidence.
  For a discovery request to be “reasonably calculated,” it must be based on a deliberate and purposeful design to lead to admissible evidence, and that design must be both reasonable and articulable.  The proponent of a release must be able to articulate a reasonable nexus between the information sought and evidence relevant to a material issue in the case.  In the Matter of Mendel, 897 P.2d 68, 93 (Alaska 1995).  To be “reasonably calculated” to lead to admissible evidence, both the scope of information within the release terms and the time periods it covers must be reasonable.   In Russell v. University of Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 88‑0241 (September 16, 1988), affirmed as modified, Russell v. University of Alaska, 3AN‑88‑10313 CI (October 5, 1990), the employee voluntarily signed a general medical release going back two years prior to the alleged carbon monoxide exposure injury.  The court reversed the board’s order compelling the employee to execute a general medical release unlimited in time.  Instead, the court ordered the employee to sign a release unlimited in time, but limited to medical records relating to carbon monoxide exposure, the physical complaints the employee attributed to his exposure, and specific mental disorders that may cause similar symptoms.  The nature of employee’s injury, the evidence thus far developed, and the specific disputed issues in the case all combine to determine whether the scope of information sought and period of time covered by a release are “reasonable.” Cole v. Anchorage School District, AWCB Decision No. 93‑0311 (February 9, 1993). 

Employee’s statutory duty to sign releases pursuant to AS 23.30.107(a) applies at all phases of a workers’ compensation claim.  Administrative notice is taken that in some cases it is difficult to see how medical records other than treatment records for the job injury could be relevant to the employee’s injury, reasonably necessary to properly administer the claim, or calculated to lead to admissible evidence.  But in contested PTD cases with a myriad of claimed bodily symptoms, information that may have a “historical or causal connection to the injuries” is generally discoverable.  Arctic Motor Freight, Inc. v. Stover, 471 P.2d 1006, 1009 (Alaska 1977) (deciding the scope of plaintiff’s implied waiver of the physician-patient privilege by putting his bodily condition at issue in a civil action).   For example, in Smith v. Cal Worthington Ford, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 94‑0091 (April 15, 1994), the board found the facts presented a reasonable basis to believe the employee’s work-related knee injury may have been related to a prior knee injury.  Accordingly, the board found medical records relating to knee treatments going back two years prior to the first injury were reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence.  Additionally, because the employee claimed his industrial knee injury caused a compensable back condition, the board also ordered the employee to release medical records relating to his back, beginning two years prior to his work-related knee injury.  

Records of medical treatment to the body part or organic system employee alleges was injured in the course and scope of employment, covering a period of two years prior to the date of injury, are sufficiently likely to lead to admissible evidence discoverable in most contested cases.  However, the scope of releases the Act requires employee to sign can only be determined by a review of the unique facts presented, and specific benefits claimed in each case.  Significantly broader medical releases are routinely approved where mental injury was alleged, or where there was a reasonable indication a physical injury may have a psychological component (such as chronic pain syndrome, or a somatoform or conversion disorder).

There are no practical means to limit fair and liberal discovery to only “relevant” evidence.  Smiley v. Phoenix Logging Co., AWCB Decision No. 94‑0283 (May 11, 1994).  The compelling state interests in prompt, fair, and equitable disposition of claims, in ensuring the integrity of the workers’ compensation system, and in providing employers with due process of law, necessarily requires employers be permitted to secure private and sometimes “irrelevant” information that is reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant, admissible evidence.  However, employee maintains a legitimate, but qualified, expectation of privacy in irrelevant information which may be revealed to employer in the course of lawful discovery.  Employer may know, possess, and disclose such private information only for the purposes of ascertaining whether it is relevant evidence.  Apart from use reasonably related to the legitimate defense of employee’s claim, such private information must be held in confidence by employer, its insurer, their agents,  attorneys, and consulting experts.

It is foreseeable reasonable discovery may entail release of private information, ultimately irrelevant to the issues in the case, to another party.  To protect Employee’s legitimate privacy interests, it is incumbent on the board to ensure discovery takes place in the least intrusive manner possible.  Consistent with due process, the parties’ right to have the record in our decision reviewed by the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission or the courts, and absent statutory or regulatory authority, the board cannot remove sensitive or embarrassing documents filed in our case record even if we believe they are irrelevant.
  The protection of the Employee’s right to privacy in irrelevant medical records is made problematic because pursuant to AS 23.30.095 (h) and 8 AAC 45.052, parties are required to file medical records “relating to the proceedings” or “which are or may be relevant.”  The rules are not as clear in respect to non-medical documents.  Accordingly, employers are directed not to file irrelevant, non‑medical documents in our records.  The confidentiality protections in AS 23.30.107(b) are sufficient to protect Employee’s rights to privacy in irrelevant medical treatment records in all but extraordinary situations.  Teel v. Thornton General Contracting, et al., AWCB Dec. No. 09-0091 (May 12, 2009).

Nonetheless, every potential disclosure of extraordinarily sensitive medical records, such as psychological and psychiatric records for example, outside of what is necessary for medical treatment or to prove or disprove a material issue in dispute, incrementally and impermissibly intrudes on Employee’s constitutional right to privacy in those records.
  Accordingly, employers are directed not to file clearly irrelevant, “highly sensitive” medical documents in our record.  The confidentiality protections in AS 23.30.107(b) protect employees’ rights to privacy in irrelevant medical treatment records in all but extraordinary situations.  Teel at 31.

Pursuant to AS 23.30.107(a), medical records that have nothing to do with the body part injured are per se irrelevant and hence not discoverable without the employer having some basis for the request of such discovery. Syren v. Municipality of Anchorage AWCB Decision No. 06-0004 (January 6, 2006).  Lucore v. State, Dep’t of Health & Social Services, Alaska Super. Ct. No. 3AN-05-12395 CI (December 21, 2005), found an inconsistent physical examination or a disagreement among medical providers on the cause of symptoms is insufficient to establish a need for an independent psychological examination or discovery relating to the employee’s mental health when the employee has not claimed mental distress nor has the employee sought treatment for a mental claim.

Regarding the discovery process generally, the Alaska Supreme Court encourages "liberal and wide ranging discovery under the Rules of Civil Procedure." Schwab V. Hooper Electric, AWCB Decision No. 87‑0322 at 4, n.2 (December  11, 1987); citing United Services Automobile Association v. Werley, 526 P.2d 28, 31 (Alaska 1974); see also, Venables v. Alaska Builders Cache, AWCB Decision No. 94-0115 (May 12, 1994).  If a party unreasonably refuses to provide information, AS 23.30.135 and AS 23.30.108(c) grant us broad discretionary authority to make orders that will assure that parties obtain the relevant evidence necessary to litigate or resolve their claims.   Bathony v. State of Alaska, D.E.C., AWCB Decision No. 98-0053 (Mar. 18, 1998).   
AS 23.30.108(c) gives the board-Designee responsibility to decide all discovery issues at the prehearing conference level, with a right of both parties to seek board review.    Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., WCAC Final Decision, Appeal No. 05-006 (January 27, 2006).
AS 23.30.108.  Prehearings On Discovery Matters; Objections to Requests For Release of Information; Sanctions For Noncompliance.  (a) If an employee objects to a request for written authority under AS 23.30.107, the employee must file a petition with the board seeking a protective order within 14 days after service of the request.  If the employee fails to file a petition and fails to deliver the written authority as required by AS 23.30.107 within 14 days after service of the request, the employee’s rights to benefits under this chapter are suspended until the written authority is delivered. 

(b) If a petition seeking a protective order is filed, the board shall set a prehearing within 21 days after the filing date of the petition. At a prehearing conducted by the board’s designee, the board’s designee has the authority to resolve disputes concerning the written authority. If the board or the board’s designee orders delivery of the written authority and if the employee refuses to deliver it within 10 days after being ordered to do so, the employee’s rights to benefits under this chapter are suspended until the written authority is delivered. During any period of suspension under this subsection, the employee’s benefits under this chapter are forfeited unless the board, or the court determining an action brought for the recovery of damages under this chapter, determines that good cause existed for the refusal to provide the written authority. 

(c) At a prehearing on discovery matters conducted by the board’s designee, the board’s designee shall direct parties to sign releases or produce documents, or both, if the parties present releases or documents that are likely to lead to admissible evidence relative to an employee’s injury.  If a party refuses to comply with an order by the board’s designee or the board concerning discovery matters, the board may impose appropriate sanctions in addition to any forfeiture of benefits, including dismissing the party’s claim, petition, or defense. If a discovery dispute comes before the board for review of a determination by the board’s designee, the board may not consider any evidence or argument that was not presented to the board’s designee, but shall determine the issue solely on the basis of the written record.  The decision by the board on a discovery dispute shall be made within 30 days.  The board shall uphold the designee’s decision except when the board’s designee’s determination is an abuse of discretion.


. . . (emphasis added).

An “abuse of discretion” has been defined to include “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive,” failing to apply controlling law or regulation, or failing to exercise sound, reasonable and legal discretion.  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1013 (Alaska 2009); Irvine v. Glacier General Construction, 984 P.2d 1103, 1107, n. 13 (Alaska 1999); Sheehan v. University of Alaska, 700 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Alaska 1985); Tobeluk v. Lind, 589 P.2d 873, 878 (Alaska 1979; Manthey v. Collier, 367 P.2d 884, 889 (Alaska 1962).  AS 23.30.108(c) gives the board designee authority and responsibility to decide all discovery issues at the prehearing conference level, with the right of both parties to seek board review.  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc.  “The scope of review for an agency’s application of its own regulations . . . is limited to whether the agency’s decision was arbitrary, unreasonable, or an abuse of discretion.”  AT&T Alascom v. Orchitt, 161 P.3d 1232, 1246 (Alaska 2007) citing J.L. Hodges v. Alaska Constructors, Inc., 957 P.2d 957, 960 (Alaska 1998).   A board designee’s decision on releases must be upheld absent “an abuse of discretion.”  

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) includes reference to a “substantial evidence” standard when reviewing decisions for abuse of discretion:  

AS 44.62.570. Scope of review.

…

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence. . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.  AS 44.62.570.

On appeals to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission or the courts, decisions reviewing board designee determinations are subject to reversal under the “abuse of discretion” standard in AS 44.62.570, incorporating the “substantial evidence test.”  Concerned with meeting that standard on appeal, the board also applies a substantial evidence standard when reviewing a board designee’s discovery determination.  Augustyniak v. Safeway Stores, Inc., AWCB No. 06- (April 20, 2006).  When applying a substantial evidence standard, “[the reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978).

8 AAC 45.065. Prehearings.  (a) After a claim or petition has been filed, a party may file a written request for a prehearing, and the board or designee will schedule a prehearing. . . .  At the prehearing, the board or designee will exercise discretion in making determinations on

(1) identifying and simplifying the issues . . . .

(2) amending the papers filed or the filing of additional papers;

(3) accepting stipulations, requests for admissions of fact, or other documents that may avoid presenting unnecessary evidence at the hearing;

(4) limiting the number of witnesses, identifying those witnesses, or requiring a witness list in accordance with 8 AAC 45.112;

(5)
the length, filing, and the date for service of legal memoranda if different from the standards set out in 8 AAC 45.114;

(6)
the relevance of information requested under AS 23.30.107(a) and AS 23.30.108;

(7)
petitions to join a person;

(8)
consolidating two or more cases, even if a petition for consolidation has not been filed;

. . .

(9)
the possibility of settlement or using a settlement conference to resolve the dispute;

(10)      discovery requests; . . . . 

(11)
the closing date for discovery;

(12)
the closing date for serving and filing of video recordings, audio records

. . .

(15)
other matters that may aid in the disposition of the case. (emphasis added).

(c)
After the prehearing the board or designee will issue a summary of the actions taken at the prehearing, the amendments to the pleadings, and the agreements made between the parties or their representatives.  The summary will limit the issues for hearing to those that are in dispute at the end of the prehearing.  Unless modified, the summary governs the issues and the course of the hearing.

(d)     Within 10 days after service of a prehearing summary issued under (c) of this section, a party may ask in writing that a prehearing summary be modified or amended by the designee to correct a misstatement of fact or to change a prehearing determination.  The party making a request to modify or amend a prehearing summary shall serve all parties with a copy of the written request.  If a party’s request to modify or amend is not timely filed or lacks proof of service upon all parties, the designee may not act upon the request.

. . .

AS 23.30.180.  Permanent total disability.  In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability….

“Total disability” does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for then does not exist.  J.B. Warrnack v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966).  An employee is not permanently disabled unless a doctor states that the condition will not improve during the claimant’s lifetime.  Alaska International Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103 (Alaska 1988).  Further, an employee is not entitled to permanent total disability “if there is regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the claimant’s capabilities.”  Summerville v. Denali Center, 811 P.2d 1047, 1051 (Alaska 1991).    

ANALYSIS

Did the board designee abuse his discretion when he granted a protective order to Employee on a medical release for records back to November 25, 1963?

Employer contends the board designee abused his discretion when he failed to order Employee to sign a medical release related to Employee’s neck, head, back, upper and lower extremities, urinary tract problems, and pain of any kind for which narcotic pain medication was prescribed, after November 25, 1963, at the May 4, 2011 prehearing conference.  On the other hand, Employee contends the board designee did not abuse his discretion by granting a protective order on the Employer’s medical release because the earliest medical record related to a claimed injured body part is Dr. West’s 1984 chart note, so Employer is only allowed to gather records dating back to 1982.  Employee contends it has long been board practice to limit a release to the body parts for which an employee has claimed benefits, and to two years before the earliest known medical record related to one of those body parts.
Employee is seeking PTD which is broader in scope and entitles Employer to a wider range of evidence but that range is not limitless.  Employer relies on Dr. West’s 1984 medical record which states “possible old injury when young” to justify going back in time to Employee’s twelfth birthday in 1963.  At the time of the May 4, 2011 prehearing, and at the time of hearing, there was no other evidence in the record substantiating the “possible old injury” to which Dr. West referred in 1984.  What is clear from Dr. West’s notation on January 24, 1984, is that the “possible old injury” reference is not consistent with the statement just below it which describes the onset as five months prior.  Hansen requires the board to weigh all possible causes of PTD, but Dr. West’s inconsistent statements without further substantiation are not sufficient to show a nexus.  However, Dr. West’s chart note is sufficient to justify allowing medical releases in this case to go back to January 24, 1982, which is two years before the earliest known treatment to a relevant body part at issue in this case, but no further back in time.

The board designee’s decision was not arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, nor stemming from an improper motive and, therefore, was not an abuse of discretion.  The board designee made the correct ruling in granting Employee a protective order on medical records releases going back in time to November 25, 1963.

Did the board designee abuse his discretion by granting Employee a protective order on releases of mental health and/or substance abuse treatment records?

Prior to hearing the parties stipulated to release of mental health records related to depression.  

Employer contends the board designee abused his discretion when he failed to order Employee to sign a mental health records release going back to 1973.  Employee responded mental health releases are different because they are invasive and potentially harmful and the board designee did not abuse his discretion by granting a protective order for Employer’s mental health release.  Also, Employee contends he has not claimed any mental health type of benefit except treatment for his depression, and he has agreed to release those records.  

There is no evidence in the record Employee has claimed any other mental health treatment related to the work injuries, nor has he claimed any other mental health condition is impacting his recovery from the work injuries or contributes to his claim of PTD.  Mental health records released to Employer will be limited to those pertaining to depression going back to January 24, 1982, which is two years before the earliest known treatment to any body part at issue.  The board designee did not abuse his discretion by granting a protective order to Employee on Employer’s mental health records release going back to 1973.

Employer contends part of their defense is based on a diagnosis of Addictive Disease and substance abuse records are necessary for Employer to build this defense.  Employer contends the board designee abused his discretion by granting Employee a protective order on the substance abuse records release.  Employee contends Employer’s reliance on EME physician Olberich’s diagnosis of Addictive Disease is a red herring, and an order for Employee to release his substance abuse records will lead to no real limits on the types of releases employers are able to obtain in workers’ compensation cases.

There is ample evidence in the record showing Employee’s treating physicians have ongoing concerns about the possibility of addiction to narcotic pain medications.  As early as February 25, 1991, Dr. James was attempting to taper Employee’s use of the narcotic Anexsia.  Dr. James limited Employee’s Anexsia prescription refills beginning on April 28, 1993.  On August 31, 1995, Dr. James implemented a pain contract to limit Employee’s pain medication prescriptions to Dr. James’ office.  Twelve days later Employee received a Darvocet prescription from Dr. Lotstein.  

Despite Dr. James’ concerns with Employee’s continued use of narcotic pain medications his office continued to prescribe narcotic pain medication until July 8, 2004, nearly nine years later, when Dr. McIntosh called ANP-C Wilson confirming Employee had been given narcotic pain medication prescriptions by both providers at the same time.  At that time Dr. McIntosh attempted to wean Employee off of narcotic pain medications and alternative methods were tried for pain relief.  By October 27, 2005, Employee’s pain medication contract was with ANP-C Wilson but he had received a prescription for codeine from Dr. McIntosh.  Despite this issue ANP-C Wilson provided Employee with a prescription for Tylenol 3.  

Dr. Olbrich thoroughly documented Employee’s narcotic pain medication usage since the 1988 work injury and opined Employee suffered from addictive disease.   Dr. Olbrich’s opinion is enough to show a nexus between the information sought, ie substance abuse treatment records, and Employer’s defense that Employee suffers from a preexisting addictive disease.  Dr. Olbrich reported Employee stated he drank alcohol to the point of blacking out when he was 19 or 20.  Based on this information provided by Employee and the need of Employer to conduct discovery to build its defense, Employee should have been ordered to sign a substance abuse treatment records release going back to his eighteenth birthday, November 25, 1969.

Employee testified in deposition he began drinking and smoking at a young age and continued for many years, but this portion of the deposition was not in the record at the time of the May 4, 2011 prehearing.  However, the many records from the treating physicians had been filed on medical summaries by the time of the May 4, 2011 prehearing, as well as Dr. Olbrich’s EME report, taken together with the fact that Employee’s treatment over the last twenty plus years has largely been narcotic pain medications, demonstrate a nexus that makes substance abuse records back to Employee’s eighteenth birthday relevant.

 The board designee did abuse his discretion by granting Employee a protective order for substance abuse treatment records going back to 1969, however, it is important to note the records demonstrating the treating physicians’ concerns about Employee’s narcotic drug use were single documents mixed in a voluminous record, and there is nothing in the prehearing conference summary to indicate Employer brought these records to the board designee’s attention.  It is impractical to think any board designee would have gained a familiarity with the voluminous banker’s box of medical records in this case prior to a prehearing, therefore it is incumbent on counsel, as the proponent of the release, to direct the designee’s attention to the appropriate relevant evidence. 

Is Employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?  If so, in what amount?
Employee’s counsel filed an Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs Regarding Releases which itemized 25.9 attorney hours, 19.3 paralegal hours, and costs of $523.91.  Attorney hours were billed at $385 and paralegal hours were billed at $165.00.  Total Attorney’s fees and costs were $13,679.91.  Mr. Jensen also asserted 3.5 additional hours of attorney time and 2.0 hours of paralegal time since completion of the affidavit of fees was prepared for an additional $1677.50.  The total attorney’s fees and costs submitted by Employee’s counsel were $15,357.41.

Employer objected to Employee’s attorney’s fees as excessive for a narrowly tailored issue. Employer asserted many of the fees go to earlier decided discovery matters upon which Employee did not prevail or to general preparation for a later hearing on the merits which should not be awarded until Employee prevails on the merits.

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable. 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed. It also requires consideration of the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the benefits resulting from the services. In awards for fees and costs, the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers are recognized in order to compensate the attorney accordingly.  Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974 (Alaska 1986).

We note the claimed hourly rate of $385.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees' counsel in other cases, based on expertise and years of experience. Employer did not dispute the hourly rate charged by Employee’s counsel.  Employee's counsel's brief and arguments at hearing were greatly beneficial in considering the disputes in this matter. This was a contested issue.  Employer has controverted all benefits related to Employee’s work injuries.  Actual attorney fees will be awarded at the rate of $385.00 per hour, paralegal fees at $165.00 per hour, and costs of $523.91.  

However, many of the charges for both paralegal and attorney time appear to relate more to a future hearing on the merits than the narrow legal issues for the August 17, 2011 hearing.  Attorney and paralegal charges for time spent dealing with releases and other discovery issues not at issue in this hearing will not be considered at this time.  Accordingly any billing prior to the March 15, 2011 petition for protective order and the time for the March 24, 2011 prehearing conference are not considered.  This results in a reduction of attorney’s fees to 21.5 hours for a total of $8,277.50, and paralegal hours to 19.2 for a total of $3,168.00.  The attorney’s fees award will be reduced by 25 percent due to Employee prevailing only on one and a half of the two issues before the board; therefore Employee will be awarded $2,376 in paralegal fees and $6,208.13 in attorney’s fees, plus $523.91 in costs, for a total of $9,108.04.

Where an Employer resists payment of compensation or medical and other benefits, and Employee utilizes an attorney successfully to prosecute the claim, Employee is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees in addition to any compensation, medical, or other benefits awarded.  
AS 23.30.145(b).  In making an award of attorney’s fees, the law requires consideration of the nature, length, and complexity of the professional services performed on behalf of the injured worker as well as the benefits resulting from the attorney's services.  An award of attorney’s fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings and fully but reasonably compensate an attorney for services performed on the issues on which the injured worker prevailed.  The experience and skills exercised on behalf of the injured worker are taken into account in order to compensate the attorney accordingly.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services, a total of $9,108.04 is a reasonable amount for attorney fees, paralegal fees, and costs for the partially successful prosecution of Employee's petitions for protective orders.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Hearing Officer Ringel did not abuse his discretion when he granted Employee a protective order at the May 4, 2011 prehearing regarding medical releases dating back to 1963.

2. Hearing Officer Ringel did not abuse his discretion when he granted Employee a protective order at the May 4, 2011 prehearing regarding a mental health release for any condition other than depression.

3. Hearing Officer Ringel abused his discretion when he granted Employee a protective order regarding a substance abuse release.

4. Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs.

ORDER

1. Hearing Officer Ringel did not abuse his discretion when he granted Employee a protective order at the May 4, 2011 prehearing regarding medical releases dating back to 1963.  Employer is entitled to medical releases dating back to January 24, 1982.

2. Hearing Officer Ringel did not abuse his discretion when he granted Employee a protective order at the May 4, 2011 prehearing regarding a mental health release for any condition other than depression.  The parties have stipulated Employer is entitled to a mental health release limited to depression dating back to January 24, 1982.

3. Hearing Officer Ringel abused his discretion by granting Employee a protective order regarding a substance abuse release.  Employee is ordered to sign a substance abuse treatment records released dating back to November 25, 1969.

4. Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $9,108.04.

5. The board retains jurisdiction over this matter.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on November 21, 2011.
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PETITION FOR REVIEW

Under Monzulla v. Voorhees Concrete Cutting, 254 P.3d 341 (Alaska 2011), a party may seek review of an interlocutory or other non-final board decision and order.  Within 10 days after service of the board’s decision and order a party may file with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a petition for review of the interlocutory or other non-final board decision and order.  The commission may or may not accept a petition for review and a timely request for relief from the Alaska Supreme Court may also be required.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of JAMES G. MCKENNA employee/applicant; v. ARCO ALASKA INC., employer; ACE USA, insurer/defendants; Case No. 199028636M; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on November  21, 2011.

__________________________________

Kim Weaver, Clerk









� Electromyography.


� Magnetic Resonance Imaging.


� A type of acupuncture.


� Gastro-esophageal reflux disease.


� AS 23.30.095(e).  


�Information is relevant for discovery purposes if it is reasonably “calculated” to lead to facts that are relevant for evidentiary purposes.


� Black’s Law Dictionary, 3rd Edition (1969) at 225 defines “calculated” as “an act which may produce a certain effect, whether intended or not; fitted adapted or suited. . . .  Likely or intended. . . .”  The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 3rd Edition (1992) defines “calculated” as: “1. Determined by mathematical calculation.  2. Undertaken after careful estimation of the likely outcome.  3. Made or planned to accomplish a certain purpose; deliberate.  4. Likely; apt.”


�See for example Cole, supra (ordering release of twenty years of mental health treatment records for specific psychiatric disorders in a stress claim); Tschantz v. Anchorage School District, AWCB Decision No. 90�0244 (October 5, 1990) (ordering release of all medical records relating to back or neck treatment and ten years of mental health treatment records in a spinal injury claim with an indication of chronic pain syndrome).


�  Our cases have frequently stated, “irrelevant information can be excluded from our record” (see for example Cooper; McDonald; Raymond, supra).  Unquestionably we may exclude irrelevant evidence from our hearing record, but the “case record” is more comprehensive than the hearing record and includes all filed documents and information.  Absent specific authority or an established practice and procedure of excluding filed documents from our case record, this protection for sensitive, but irrelevant information, rings hollow.


� Disclosure of the mere fact a person has visited a psychiatrist, psychologist or a physician specializing in treating sexual problems or venereal disease is sensitive information that may cause particular embarrassment or opprobrium.  Falcon, 570 P.2d at 480.  See also Davic v. Seastar Stevedore, AWCB Decision No. 88�0361 (December 29, 1988).
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